Conciliation Agreement
Between the
U.S. Department of Labor Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs
And
University of Connecticut
241 Glenbrook Road, Unit 4175
Storrs, CT 06269
OFCCP Case No. R00192476
I. Preliminary Statement

The Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs (OFCCP) evaluated the University of
Connecticut (UConn) establishment located at 241 Glenbrook Road, Unit 4175, Storrs, CT,
beginning on October 30, 2014. OFCCP found that UConn failed to comply with Executive Order
11246, as amended, and their respective implementing regulations at 41 C.F.R. Sections 60-1- 60-
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OFCCP notified UConn of the specific violation(s) and the corrective action(s) required ina Notice
of Violation issued on January 29, 2018 (NOV). UConn disputes all findings contained in the
Notice of Violation.

In the interest of resolving the violations without engaging in further legal proceedings and in
exchange for sufficient and valuable consideration described in this document, OFCCP and UConn
enter into this Conciliation Agreement (Agreement) and its attachiments, and the parties agree to
all the terms therein.

The attachments to this Agreement are deemed incorporated into this Agreement.

H. General Terms and Conditions

1. Inexchange for UConn’s fulfillment of all its obligations in this Agreement, OFCCP will
not institute administrative or judicial enforcement proceedings under E.O. 11246, Section
503, andfor VEVRAA based on the violations alleged in the NOV. However, OFCCP
retains the right to initiate legal proceedings to enforce this Agreement if UConn violates
any provision of this Agreement, as set forth in Paragraph I, below. Nothing in this
Agreement precludes OFCCP from initiating enforcement proceedings based on future
compliance evaluations or complaint investigations.

2. OFCCP may review UConn’s compliance with this Agreement. As part of this review,
OFCCP may require written reports, inspect the premises, interview witnesses, and
examine and copy documents. UConn will permit access 1o its premises during normal
business hours for these purposes and will provide OFCCP with all hard copy or electronic
reports and documents it requests, including those specified in this Agreement. '

3. Nothing in this Agreement relieves UConn of its obligation to fully comply with the
requirements of E.Q. 11246, Section 503, VEVRAA, their implementing regulations, or
other applicable laws requiring nondiscrimination or equal employment opportunity
through affirmative action.
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UConn and OFCCP agree that any release of claims required by this Agreement wil! only
pettain to claims under E.OQ. 11246, Section 503, and/or VEVRAA.

UConn agrees that it will not retaliate against any potential or actual beneficiary of this
Agreement or against any person who files a complaint, who has provided information or
assistance, or who participates in any manner in any proceeding in this matter.

The parties understand the terms of this Agreement and enter intd it voluntarily,

This Agreement, including its attachments, constitutes the entire Agreement and represents
the complete and final understanding of the parties, This Agreement contains all of the
terms binding the parties and it supersedes all prior written and oral negotiations and
agreements. Any modifications or amendments to this Agreement must be agreed upon in
writing and signed by all parties. If an administrative error is found, OFCCP will work in
good faith with all parties to make the corrections.

This Agreement becomes effective on the day it is signed by the Northeast Regional
Director (Effective Date).

If one or more provisions of this Agreement is deemed unlawful or unenforceable, the
remaining provisions will remain in full force and effect.

This Agreement will expire sixty (60) days after UConn submits its final progress report
required in Section Vil, below, unless OFCCP notifies UConn in writing before the
expitation date that UConn has failed to fulfill all of its obligations under the Agreement.
In this instance, the Agreement is automatically extended until the date that OFCCP
determines that UConn has met all of its obligations under the Agreement.

If UConn violates this Agreement:
a. The procedures at 41 C.F.R. 60-1.34 will govern:

i, OFCCP will send UConn a written notice stating the alleged violations and
summarizing any supporting evidence.

ii, UConn shall have fifteen (15) days from receipt of the notice to respond, except in
those cases in which such a delay would result in irreparable injury to the
employment rights of affected employees or applicants.

Hi. If UConn is unable to demonstrate that it has not violated the Agreement, or if
QFCCP’s alleges irreparable injury, enforcement proceedings may be initiated
immediately without issuing a show cause notice or proceeding through any
other requirement,

iv. Inthe event of a breach of this Agreement by UConn, OFCCP may elect to proceed
to a hearing on the entire case and seek full make-whole relief, and not be limited
to the terms agreed to in the Agreement.
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b. UConn may be subject to the sanctions set forth in Section 209 of the Executive
Order, 41 C.F.R. 60-1.27, 41 C.F.R. 60-741.66 (2014), or 41 C.F.R. 60-300.66
(2014), and/or other appropriate relief for violating this Agreement.

UConn denies any violation of the Executive Order, Section 503 or VEVRAA, nor has
there been an adjudication on the merits regarding any such violation.

OFCCP may seek enforcement of this Agreement itself and is not required to present proof
of any underlying violations resolved by this Agreement.

14, The parties understand and agree that nothing in this Agreement is binding on other

governmental departments or agencies other than the United States Department of Labor.

|5, Each party shall bear its own fees and expenses with respect to this matter.

I6. This Agreement is limited to the facts of this case. Neither this Agreement, nor any part of

the negotiations that occurred in connection with this Agreement, shalf constitute admissible
evidence with respect to any OFCCP policy, practice or position in any lawsuit, legal
proceeding, administrative proceeding, compliance evaluation or audit, except for legal or
administrative proceedings concerning the enforcement or interpretation of this specific
Agreement,

. All references to *days™ in this Agreement, and in the Timeline included as Attachment B,

are calendar days. If any deadline for an obligation scheduled to be performed under this
Agreement falls on 2 weekend or a Federal holiday, that deadline will be extended to the
next business day.

111 Discrimination Violation(s)

OFCCP determined that at some point during the time period from July 1, 2 I
2014, UConn discriminated against two (2) females employed in Dcpanmenwby
paying them less than similarly situated men in their corresponding departmeat in viglation
of 41 C.F.R § 60-1.4(a)(l1 ) and 4! C.F.R § 60-20.4. Specifically, employee Non-
Clinical Professor, was paid on average $14,671 less than her two (2) similarly situated
male counterparts, employees#md B OFCCP determined that a significant
disparity in compensation remained even when legitimate factors affecting pay were taken
into account. Furthermore, employee Assistant Clinical Professor, was paid
$8,365, less than her similarly situated male counterpart. employee OFCCP
determined that a significant disparity in compensation remained even when legitimate
factors affecting pay were taken into account.

OFCCP determined that at some point during the time period from Juty I, 2012 to July |,
2014, UConn discriminated against five (5) females in the Specialist |A and Specialist [IA
positions employed in Departments#nd y paying them less than similarly
situated men in their corresponding department in violation of 41 C.F.R § 60-1.4(a)(}) and
41 CF.R. § 60-20.4. Specifically, based on statistical and cohort analyses and the
examination of records, as well as other evidence gathered during the investigation.
OFCCP determined that the five (5) female employees in Departments -and .
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were paid at a lower rate than their similarly sitvated male counterparts. OFCCP
de.lermine.q‘ that significant disparities in compensation remained even when legitimate
factors affecting pay were taken into account, '

IV.Financial Remedy
|. Financial Settlement

a. Settlement Payments, Within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, UConn will
issue payments through its integrated payroll and financial system in the specific
amounts listed in section IV.1.b. below. This fund omits the $92,290 in back pay,
interest, and salary adjustment UConn has already issued to employee The
total Settlement Amount in this Agreement is $249,539, which is $21 1,324 in back pay,
$21,925 in interest, and $16,290 in salary adjustments. The settiement is a negotiated
amount that represents estimated back pay and accrued interest. UConn’s share of
taxes on the portion representing back pay (such as federal, state and/or local taxes and
Federal Income Contributions Act (FICA)) is not part of the Settlement Amount.

b.- Specific Settlement Payment Amounts, The Settlement amount includes back pay
payments to the following individuals (Eligible Employees) (also identified in
Attachment A): :

Employe $6,615

Employee 50,000
Employee $30,000
Employee : $40,000
Employee $25,634

Employee - $5,000

¢. Payments to Eligible Employees. UConn will issuc checks or make electronic
payments to each Eligible Employee in the stated amount within thirty (30) days of the
Effective Date. UConn will provide OFCCP with evidence of the payments in the form
of a report from its integrated payroll and financial system documenting the payment
amount and check/advice number, OFCCP will receive timely documentation of any

. paymepts.returned.undelivered or.any checks not cashed, as set forth.on the Timeline,.-

Any check that remains uncashed |80 days after the initial date the payment was issued
to the Eligible Employee will be void. Any amount of money remaining from
uncashed or undeliverable checks shall be deposited into an unclaimed property
fund with the State of Connecticut Treasurer’s Office. No portion of these funds
shall revert back, directly or indirectly, to UConn.

S B W=

d. Tax Payments, Forms and Reporting. Individual payments to Eligible Employees
will be subject to all appropriate withholdings and deductions required by law, such as
federal, state and FICA taxes, insurance premiums, union dues, retirement, and any
applicable post-employment or post-retirement benefits. UConn will pay -the
employer's share of FICA and any other fringe component based on the individual
payments from additional funds separate from the Settlement Amount. The individual
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payments will be included in the Eligible Employee’s 2020 IRS Form W-2. No Eligible
Employee will be required to complete a W-4, CT-W4 or W-9 in order to reccive
payments under this settlement.

2. Salary Adjustments. UConn agreed to and made the following salary adjustment:

a, Employee- UConn has issued a salary adjustment of $16,290 to employee

B it Depariment NN

3. Notice Process

a.

OFCCP and UConn Obligations under the Notice Process. The Notice Process set
forth in this agreement is intended to provide Eligible Employees a meaningful
opporttunity to understand their rights and obligations and act on them in a timely
manner. This includes providing notice in multiple relevant languages to the affected
workers and through multiple channels if appropriate and providing technical
assistance to Eligible Employees seeking information about their rights and obligations
under this Agreement. As specified in the Timeline and as otherwise necessary to fulfili
this Agreement, UConn and OFCCP will regularly meet and confer in person, by phone
and/or by email on the notice process to determine how best to carry out the Notice
provisions of this Agreement, and to decide whether any activity, deadline or document
stiould be modified. OFCCP and UConn agree not to unreasonably withhold consent
to reasonable modifications proposed by either party.

Notice Documents. UConn will distribute Notice Documents to Eligible Employees
identified in Attachment A consistent with the sample Notice Documents contained in -
Attachment C. The Notice Documents may include other materials such as standard
OFCCP or U.S. Department of Labor materials, instructions or a cover sheet, job
applications, or other information that better enables Eligible Employees to understand
their rights and obligations and act on them in a timely manner. Nothing in this section
prohibits UConn from also providing informal notice to the Eligible Employees to alert
them that they will be receiving Notice Documents and payments.

Timeline. Attachment B sets forth the agreed Timeline for Notice and for the pacties’
other obligations under this Agreement, The parties will meet and confer on any
reasonable modifications to the Timeline proposed by either party.

Distribution of Notice to Eligible Employees. UConn will provide the Notice
Documents through internal UConn correspondence methods for Eligible Employees
currently employed by UConn and by regular first-class mail for Eligible Employces
not currently employed by UConn. For Eligible Employees not currently employed by
UConn, UConn will send copies of all of the Notice Documents as defined above,
including a postage-paid return envelope, along with their payment checks by first class
mail 1o the best available mailing address by the date set forth in the Timeline. If
envelapes from the initial mail notice are returned with forwarding addresses, UConn
will re-mail the Notice Documents within five (5) days of receipt of the forwarding
address.




¢. Exchange of Information Regarding Eligible Employees. UConn and OFCCP will
timely exchange information regarding Eligible Employees, including updated
contact information and the results of any technical assistance provided.

f. Documentation of Payments. By the deadline set forth in the Timeline, UConn will
provide OFCCP with copies of cancelled checks or electronic documentation of all
payments to Eligible Employees, including the amounts paid, the date payment was
sent, the date payment was received or the check cashed, and any uncashed or returned
checks.

g. Contractor’s Expenses. UConn will pay ali expenses associated with carrying out its
duties’ pursuant to this Section, from funds separate and apart from the amount
designated in this Agreement for the Settlement.

V. Modifications to Employment Practices and Other Non-Monetary Relief

UConn will ensure that all employees are afforded equal employment opportunities. UConn
agrees to continue or to implement the corrective actions detailed below.

I. Training. Within one hundred twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, UConn must train

individuals invoived in determining compensation for employees in Departments

MF and - on all policies. procedurcs, and programs related to
compensation.

2. Self-monitoring/ Auditing. Within 120 days of the effective date of this agreement,
UConn will monitor base salary as well_as the administration of non-base compensation
foremployees in Departmenth and [l for any indication of statistically
significant disparities based on gender and will investigate and remedy any such inequity
that cannot be explained by legitimate factors, through salary adjustments. UConn expressly
agrees 10 investigate any complaint or information it regeives that may indicate such
compensation disparities.

a. UConn commits to self-monitor its compensation program for employees in
Departments and-)n an annual basis.

b. UConn will evaluate (1) whether the eligibility criteria for determining base and non-
base compensation are uniformly applied without regard to gender of employees in
Departments and and (2) whether eligible employees receive
non-base compensation in nondiscriminatory amounts.

¢. If UConn finds evidence that the eligibility criteria for determining base and non-base
compensation are not uniformly applied to all employees in such groups, it will create
a written guidance document explaining the criteria and procedures for awarding base
and non-base compensation and it will provide related training to all employees who
make compensation decisions.




d. If there is a statistically significant difference in the basc and non-base compensation
of different gender groups in Depanmems_Hand-hat cannot be
explained by legitimate factors, UConn agrees to adjust base and non-base pay to
correct any disparities found,

V1. Technical Violations and Remedies

i. Violation: OFCCP alleges that UConn violated 41 CFR 60-2.17(b)(3) by failing to
perform an in-depth analysis of its total employment process to determine whether and
where impediments to equal employment opportunity exist. Specifically, OFCCP alleges

* that UConn did not identify, through in-depth analysis, whether there were gender-based
disparities in_its compensation systems as applicable to individuals employed in
Departments and

Remedy: To resolve this allegation, UConn agrees to perform in-depth analyses of its
total employment process to determine whether and where impediments to equal
employment opportunity exist, including analyzing all impedimen ‘ i
alleged gender-based compensation disparities within Dcpaﬂmemm
and UConn must incorporate these analyses and determinations into the
[dentification of Problem Areas section of now-current Affirmative Action Programs

("AAPs"). UConn must update these analyses annually and incorporate them into
UConn's future AAPs.

2. Violation: OFCCP alleges that UConn failed to develop and implement an internal audit
and reporting system that periodically measures the effectiveness of its total affirmative
action program, in violation of 41 CFR 60-2.17(d)(1) through (4). Specifically, OFCCP
alleges that UConn failed to monitor records of all personnel activity, failed to require
internal reporting on a scheduled basis, failed to review and report results with ail levels of
management, and failed to advise top management of program effectiveness and submit
recommendations to improve unsatisfactory performance.

Remedy: To resolve this allegation. UConn agrees to develop and implement an internal
audit and reporting system that periodically measures the effectiveness of its total
affirmative action program to ensure equal employment opportunity in accordance with 41
CFR 60-2.17(d)(1) through (4).

The internal audit and reporting system must include the following:

a. Monitoring records of personnel activity including compensation, at all levels to ensure
that its nondiscriminatory policy is carried out;

b. Requiring internal reporting on a scheduled basis as to the degree to which equal
employment opportunity and organizational objectives are attained;

¢. Reviewing repott results with all levels of management; and
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d. Advising top management of program effectiveness and submitting recommendations,

including specific steps and concrete strategies, to improve unsatisfactory performance.

OFCCP Monitoring Period

Recordkeeping, UConn agrees to retain all records relevant to the violations alleged in
Sections [Il and V1 above and the reports submitted in compliance with Paragraph 2, below.
These records include underlying data and information such as Human Resources
Information System (HRIS) and payroll data, job applications and personnel records, and
any other records or data used to generate the required reports. UConn will retain the
records unti} this Agreement expires or. for the time period consistent with regulatory
requirements, whichever is later.

2. Contractor Reports.

a. Schedule and Instructions. UConn agrees to furnish OFCCP with the following

reports during the Monitoring Period according to the following schedule (e.g. reports
on revised policies, pay adjustments, validity studies, etc.):

Report  Reporting Period for Each Report Report Due Date
s Effective Date of Agreement to June 30, 2021 October 1, 2021
2 July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 October 1, 2022

UConn will submit reports to t 135 High Street,
Room 219, Hartford, CT 06103 or dol.gov. UConn and OFCCP
have a common interest in the information being provided in the reports pursuant to
this Agreement. To the extent any of the reports UConn provides in accordance with
this agreement are customarily kept private or closely-held, and UConn believes should
remain confidential under Exemption 4 of FOA in the event of a FOIA request, UConn
will provide such reports to OFCCP marked as “Confidential”. In the event ofa FOIA
request, OFCCP will consider treating any such documents received as confidential
documents.

. Affirmative Action Programs. UConn will submit its current year AAP for E.O.

11246 with the first Progress Report and annually thereafter while the CA monitoring
period is in effect.

Reports on Pay Adjustments. In each Progress Report, UConn will report on all pay
adjustments made to date pursuant to the Agreement as well as the date of the
adjustment, Documentation must also include the names of individuals offered higher
paying work, the start date for the higher paid position and the rate of pay. The reports
must include:

i. Documentation of monetary payments to all Eligible Employees as specified in Part
IV.l.c. above. UConn must provide OFCCP with copies of all canceled checks
upon request for payments issued through checks rather than electronic deposit.
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ii. UConn must provide documentation describing all salary adjustments required by
Part [V.2, of this Agreement. The documentation must include the amount of each
adjustment, the date each adjustment will be/ was made, and the gender of each
individual receiving an adjustment.

iii. UConn must provide a market analysis of empioyees-- and
demonstrating their market placement as compa to their counterparts in
depanmem_and superiors in depanmcntshand and
the efforts UConn made to correct any discrepancies found during the analysis.

iv. UConn must provide market data for employees - - and -

showing percentiles and sources used to obtain data.

d. Reports on Modifications to Personne! Practices. In each Progress Report, UConn
will report on all modifications of personnel practices made to date pursuant to the
Agreement and provide documentation of its compliance with the remedy provisions
of this Agreement. If any of the relevant documents such as job postings or policies
have not been modified since being provided during a prior reporting period, &
statement to that effect is sufficient. The reports must include:

i. UConn must submit documentation that all managers, supervisors, and other
ersonnel involved in making compensation decisions for Departments
hanc- positions have received training on the policies described in Part
V of this Agreement. The documentation must include the dates of the training, the
names and job titles of all attendees, an outline of the topics discussed during the
training, and the name and job title of each person who conducted the training.

3. Close of Monitoring Period and Termination of Agreement. This Agreement shall
remain in effect until the monitoring period is completed. The monitoring period will
close once OFCCP accepts UConn’s final progress report as set forth in Part }, Paragraph
10 above. 1f OFCCP fails to notify UConn in writing within sixty (60) days of the date
of the final progress report that UConn has not fulfilied all of its obligations under the
Agreement, OFCCP will be deemed to have accepted the final report and the Monitoring
Period and this Agreement will terminate, If OFCCP notifies UConn within the allotted
time that it has not fuifilled all ol its obligations, this Agreement is automatically
extended until the date that OF CCP determines UConn has met all of its obligations under
the Agreement.

VIII. SIGNATURES

The person signing this Agreement on behalf of UConn personally warrants that he or she is fully
authorized to do so, that UConn has entered into this Agreement voluntarily and with full
knowledge of its effect, and that execution of this Agreement is fully binding on UConn.

*



This Agreement is hereby executed by and between the Office of Federal Contract Compliance
Programs and UConn located at 24| Glenbrook Road, Unit 41785, Storrs, CT.

Thomas C. Katsouleas, Ph.D.
President

ik L TV TS T T O N NEIO U] G ol bt o A S S b bl S i
Storrs. CT
DATE: 7-30-20

Diana Sen
Regienal Director
Northeast Region

R S T e SR AR N S e S EETREGL RSy Ry =

Dl‘illlbl Director Buffalo and Hartford Ofﬁccs

Northeast Region

DArE:  9/30/2020

Imu,y ills
Assistant District Director Hartford District Office

Northeast Region
9/30/2020

DATE:

i 4 i A I P 4

jaison

=qual Opportunity Specialist -
Northeast Region

9/30/20

DATE:
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ATTACHMENT A

LIST OF 7 ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES

Depa rtmcn-

Employee [N $92.290 (Obligation previously fulfilled by UConn)
Employee- $6,615

Departments -&-

Employee- $50,000

Empioyee- $30,000

Employee [ $40,000

Employee -: $25,634

Employee- $5,000
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ATTACEMENT B

TIMELINE

Activity

Date

UConn Mails Notice Documents and Issues
Payments '

TBD (30 days from the Effective Date)

UConn Notifies OFCCP of Undeliverable
Mailings

Within 15 days of receipt of undeliverable
notice

OFCCP  Provides
information to UConn

Updated Contact

TBD (110 days from the Effective Date)

UConn Notifies OFCCP of Any Checks
Returned as Undeliverable

Within 15 days of receipt of undeliverable
notice

OFCCP Provides Updated Addresses

Within 21 days

UConn Mails Back Pay Checks to New
Addresses

Within 21 days
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ATTACHMENT C
NOTICE TO ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES

Dear [name}:

The University of Connecticut (UConn) and the Department of Labor's Office of Federal
Contract Compliance Programs (OFCCP) have entered into a Conciliation Agreement
(Agreement) to remedy alleged violations of Executive Order 11246 (E.O. 11246) that
OFCCP identified during a compliance review of UConn’s Stotrs, CT facility. OFCCP’s
analysis determined that at some point during the time period between July 1, 2012 and July 1,
2014, UConn paid seven female employees statistically-significantly less per year than a male
counterpart(s) with the same job at the same location. UConn denics any violation of £ 0.
11246 and there has not been any adjudicated finding that UConn violated any laws. OFCCP
and UConn entered into the Agreement, and UConn agreed to make payments to the identified
employees to resolve the matter without resorting to further legal proceedings. Payment is not
to be construed as an admission of any liability by UConn.

You have been identified as one of the individuals who worked as a {position] during this time
period. Under the Agreement, you are eligible to receive a payment [insert appropriate
amount/description such as "of § _____representing a pro rata share of back pay”] (less
deductions required by law). [For Eligible Employees no longer working for UConn: “Enclosed
piease lind your payment. An IRS Form W-2 documenting tax withholding will be issued by the
State of Connecticut at the end of the calendar year.”"] {For Eligible Employees currently
working for UConn: “This payment amount will be reflected in your next scheduled biweekly
payment.”

If you have any qu

estions you may call [ramel at [UConn] at [phone number], or OFCCP
Compliance Office . Your call will be

returned as soon as possible.

Sincerely,

[Nume]

Enclosutes
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